












































































14TH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 

IN AND FOR THE PARISH OF CALCASIEU 

STATE OF LOUISIANA 

EMMA BRADFORD, ET AL 

vs. DOCKET NO. 2007-002492 

CITGO PETROLEUM CORPORATION, 

ET AL 

Evidence adduced and proceedings had in 

the above numbered and entitled matter at Lake 

Charles, Louisiana, on May 27, 2016, before the 

Honorable Sharon Wilson. 

APPEARANCES: 

Mr. Richard Wilson 
Ms. Somer Brown 
Cox, Cox, Fila, Camel & 
Wilson 
Mr. Jake Buford 
Baggett, McCall, Burgess, 
Watson & Gaughan 
Counsel for Emma 
Bradford, et al 

Mr. Craig Isenberg 
Barrasso Usdin Kupperman 
Freeman & Sarver, LLc 
Mr. Robert Landry 
Scofield, Gerard, 
Pohorelsky, Gallaugher & 
Landry 
Counsel for Citgo 
Petroleum Corporation 
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PROCEEDINGS: 

THE COURT: 

I want to apologize to you all. I 

think I was having a Dr. Springer day, 

but hopefully I've gotten enough medicine 

in me where y'all won't have to stop and 

prop me up like you did Dr. Springer. 

We are back on the record in the 

matter of Emma Bradford, et al versus 

Citgo Petroleum Corporation, et al, it is 

docket number 2007-2492. We're on the 

record today for a ruling from the Court. 

This matter commenced trial on May 9. It 

seems like it took longer than it did, 

but it actually was a more expedited 

trial than was anticipated; so I want to 

thank Counsel on both sides for that. 

Before I start with my ruling, I want 

to commend the lawyers on both sides. I 

remember when I first took the bench, the 

Ad Hoc Judge who sat before me, who 

happens to have the same last name but no 

relation, said to me, you're going to 

love the view from the bench because 

there are a lot of good lawyers in this 

Bar, and just to see it from the bench is 

an awesome thing. And he was 100 percent 

correct. 

I've just made my two year 

anniversary, and I'm thoroughly enjoying 

this job, but it's because of the 

lawyering that we just happen to have in 
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his jurisdiction. I think it's just 

outstanding. 

I especially want to commend Mr. 

Landry and Mr. Eisenberg, because after 

my last ruling, to have arguments like 

the ones that you guys propose to me, I 

thought were just outstanding. You 

caused me to think and you caused me to 

look at my point of view and re-examine 

it and thoroughly look at each case 

individually, which is what I should do, 

and give both sides a fair trial; and I 

just thought that that was some really 

good stuff. 

So with that being said, this matter 

comes to Court, liability is not a 

question. Citgo has stipulated to 

liability, and so the question for the 

Court is one of causation and damages. 

I have to start off by saying that 

with the exception of two, and I'll point 

them out when we get to them, these 

plaintiffs were very credible. Even the 

defense argued that. I think it was more 

of an argument of maybe that they were 

confused or it just didn't quite happen 

the way that they thought it did, but 

credibility just wasn't a question for 

me. 

And I've watched lots of witnesses 

testify over my 24 years of being 

involved in courts, especially on the 
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criminal side, you find lots of liars; so 

it's refreshing to find very truthful 

people who are just trying to relay to 

you what happened. 

I am going to adopt the facts from my 

previous ruling, because the facts are 

the same. The only difference is in this 

case it involves not only the slop oil 

release, but it also involves a release 

from Citgo of hydrogen sulfate as well as 

-- and that's an air release -- and also 

sulfur dioxide, which is also an air 

release. 

And what is before this Court is 33 

plaintiffs who are alleging that they 

were, for the bulk of them, exposed to 

the air release of the hydrogen sulfide 

or the sulfur dioxide, and some of them 

were actually exposed to both that and 

the slop oil or the slop oil only. 

For the bulk of these plaintiffs I 

think that we have a number of eggshell 

plaintiffs, so you have some people who 

were susceptible to the things that 

occurred and happened to them. 

From a causation standpoint for this 

Court, the injuries that are complained 

of by these plaintiffs, it is the finding 

of this Court it was caused by the air 

release or slop oil release that occurred 

on June 19, 2006. And like I said, in a 

moment I'll go through them specifically. 
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But most of them across the board 

what they have in common is symptoms that 

are listed on the MSDS that is provided 

by Citgo for each of these three 

substances. It pretty much is just 

illustrative of what you find on the 

MSDS. And it is the finding of this 

Court that the injuries that they are 

complaining of were caused by the release 

that occurred on June 19/ 2006. 

There was something that I found ln 

reviewing the opinions that have been 

issued by my colleagues on this bench. 

Judge Ritchie said something that I 

wholeheartedly agree with. It's on page 

six of the transcript in Carl Cormier, et 

al versus Citgo Petroleum/ docket number 

2007-2880. It 1 S when he's talking about 

Citgo's failure to warn the public/ and 

I'm quoting him at this point. 

He says/ "so failure to warn is one 

thing/ but to mislead someone into 

thinking that they 1 re completely safe lS 

shameful. They were not concerned about 

the safety of these individuals clearly. 

In fact 1 it appeared to be an 

afterthought that someone was sent out 

there to do that one air monitoring to 

take that one air monitoring result and 

there 1 S no evidence that was introduced 

by Citgo as to whether that was the 

breeding zone or not 1 or whether that was 
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just, as one of the witnesses testified, 

that that was one result is only as good 

as where it was taken at that moment in 

time." 

The reason I mention that is because 

I think that part of the lawyering that 

was happening in this trial is that the 

plaintiffs are not specific or they did 

not seek immediate medical treatmenti 

they're not specific about their 

locationsi in some instances they're not 

specific about when their symptoms 

started or why weren't they alerted. 

Most of the symptoms, especially the 

symptoms that you'll find on the MSDS, 

are symptoms that most people would just 

think that they're having seasonal 

allergies or they're just maybe 

developing a common cold or flu and they 

might do exactly what these plaintiffs 

did, which is to self medicate unto you 

can't handle it anymore. 

And the failure to warn the public 

and to hide information did not put the 

public on alert that they were in danger, 

so they were unsuspectingi and so I'm 

holding them to the standard of being 

unsuspecting plaintiffs of the danger 

that is lurking in their environment. 

The first person that this Court 

heard from was Mr. Michael Lee. At the 

time Mr. Lee was employed with Ron 
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Williams Construction, and he was 

transferred from the Port site to the 

Calcasieu Refinery site, and he did not 

arrive at that site until July 17th of 

2006. 

There was much made of some emails 

that indicated the clean up should have 

been finished at the time. I don't find 

those to be as reliable as Mr. Lee's 

recollection, which was pretty clear, 

pretty strong, and unwavering. And Mr. 

Lee remembers that the cleanup was still 

going on when he got there. 

He remembers the strong smell of raw 

fuel. He remembers the film still being 

on the water and he remembers the garbage 

being there with the booms that had been 

used to clean up the spill being there 

and walking by them and inhaling the 

fumes that would come from the discarded 

cleanup waist. 

He complained of suffering from 

diarrhea, and nausea which lasted for a 

few days. When he visited the doctor on 

April 30, 2007, the doctor believed, Dr. 

Looney believed that he had returned to 

his pre-exposure state of health. Mr. 

Lee reports that he was sluggish for a 

couple of years. 

And Mr. Lee also complained of -- I 

saw this in Dr. Springer's deposition 

he complained of erectile dysfunction. 
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Although he did not testify before me 

about it, apparently it is something that 

he believes, he attributes, Mr. Lee 

attributes, to his exposure. And I only 

bring that up because I think it's 

relevant and as it leads to Mr. Pappion, 

who strongly believes that's why he's 

suffering from erectile dysfunction. 

Also Mr. Lee is a cancer survivor, 

and he expressed some fears about having 

been exposed and how that may impact his 

future health. 

At this time this Court awards to Mr. 

Lee his medical expenses which come to 

the amount of $1,080.61. I award to Mr. 

Lee general damages for pain and 

suffering in the amount of $35,000; 

general damages for fear of developing a 

future disease given Mr. Lee's 

positioning of 15,000; general damages 

for loss of enjoyment of life, 5,000, 

which makes a total recovery of 56,000; 

and I am limited to 50,000, so Mr. Lee 

will be awarded 50,000. 

The next plaintiff that this Court 

heard from was Ms. Cheryl Wilmore. At 

the time Ms. Wilmore was an employee of 

the Isle of Capri Casino. 

She complained of being on break. 

She was working the late shift, which she 

described as midnight to 6:00AM. She 

was on breaking and she said that she 
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smelled the strong odor which smelled 

like rotten eggs to her and she recalled 

seeing some dead fish in the water 

surrounding her work site. 

She also complains of skin 

irritation, headaches, trouble sleeping. 

The duration of her symptoms is 

approximately six months. She also 

complained of being very tired, and at 

the time being a single mother with five 

sons and not always having the ability to 

do and care for her sons as she need to, 

because she remembers being very tired. 

She also complained of having fears 

of having been exposed to a carcinogenic 

because of her mother's death from 

cancer. 

This Court awards to Ms. Wilmore $577 

for her medical expenses; for general 

damages for pain and suffering this Court 

awards $15,000 to Ms. Wilmore because 

this Court feels that her exposure is 

limited; it's not the same. And she also 

left the Isle of Capri shortly 

thereafter, but it is not the same as 

some of the workers who worked for an 

extended period of time in the 

environment; 15,000 for pain and 

suffering; general damages for a fear of 

developing a future illness such as 

cancer, because I do believe that she was 

exposed to the slop oil, would be 2,500; 
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also loss of enjoyment of life for the 

extreme fatigue and the inability to be 

able care for her children in the same 

manner while she was suffering with the 

symptoms, $2,500, for a total recovery of 

$20,577 to Cheryl Wilmore. 

The next plaintiff that this Court 

heard from was which Richard Wayne 

Granger. Mr. Granger at the time resided 

on Patton Street, which is approximately 

three miles from the Citgo Refinery. He 

is a disabled person who had an on-the­

job injury in 1985. 

His memory is that he was walking 

near his home and began to smell 

something that smelled rotten, as he 

described it. He started to have 

difficulty breathing. His eyes were 

watering. He saw Dr. Looney six times. 

He also complained of sinus problems, 

throat problems, and headache problems, 

which once again is consistent with what 

the MSDS would say as it relates to the 

chemicals that were released into the 

environment during the air release. 

The last time that he saw Dr. Looney 

was October of 2007. He also expressed 

when he testified before me that he was 

very concerned about his future health. 

This Court awards to Mr. Granger 

medical expenses of $2,090.16; general 

damages for pain and suffering in the 
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amount of 25 1 000; general damages for 

fear of contracting a future disease/ 

2 1 500; and loss of enjoyment $1500 -- of 

a loss of enjoyment of his life for the 

time that he was suffering/ 1500 1 total 

award to Mr. Richard Wayne Granger is 

$31/090.16. 

The next plaintiff that this Court 

heard from was Mr. Rodney James Guillory/ 

Sr. Mr. Guillory says that he was 

driving his vehicle in June of 2006 

headed to Sulphur for bingo. He recalls 

smelling an odor that smelled like rotten 

eggs. He also says that a day or so 

later/ he's not specific on the time/ he 

remembers that it was after the drive 

incident 1 he remembers being at the Isle 

of Capri Casino; and he remembers that 

there was a distinctive smell. 

He also relayed a third time of 

being/ at sometime during that summer 

period/ being at a home of a friend in 

Big Lake on the water/ and he remembers a 

smell. 

He also reported that he has a 

history of colon cancer and he had a 

herniated disc problem. He says his 

longest symptoms were headaches and he 

had trouble sleeping. He also had eye 

irritation 1 a cough/ trouble breathing/ 

sinus/ nausea/ and diarrhea. 

He too expressed what I believe to be 
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a very genuine concern, given that he is 

a cancer survivor and has endured 

chemotherapy in the past, for his future 

health. 

This Court awards to Mr. Guillory 

medical expenses of $1,795i general 

damages for pain and suffering of 

$25,000i general damages for a fear of 

contracting a future disease, $2,500i and 

general damage for the loss of his 

enjoyment of life during the time of his 

suffering with these symptoms of $2,500, 

for a total award of $31,795. 

The next plaintiff that this Court 

heard from was Ms. Nita Teresa Touchet. 

This Court found Ms. Touchet extremely 

credible. She's an elderly lady who lives 

in Sulphur on Roxanne Street. 

At the time of the air release this 

Court finds that she was walking in her 

yard, and she remembers a terrible smelli 

and she remembers the odor smelling like 

rotten eggs. 

She remembers suffering from 

headaches, diarrhea, fatigue, sweating, 

and vomiting. She later had to call 911, 

and she was taken to West Cal Cam. 

Ms. Touchet also expressed what this 

Court finds to be a very credible and 

genuine fear for her future health for 

two reasons. It is pressing for her 

because her husband passed away from some 
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kind of complication involving chemical 

exposure; and she is a breast cancer 

survivor. 

This Court awards to Ms. Touchet, her 

medical expenses are $2,662.20; general 

damages for pain and suffering in the 

amount of $30,000; general damages for a 

fear of contracting future disease, 

$10,000; and general damages for loss of 

enjoyment of her life, $2,500, for a 

total award of $45,162.20. 

The next plaintiff that this Court 

heard from was Mr. Edward Wannage, W-a-n­

n-a-g-e. He lives on Big Lake Road. His 

home as he put it is on the Bayou. He 

could smell fumes coming from the slop 

oil that was in the water near his home. 

He has a pre-existing condition. He 

was diagnosed with COPD in 1993. He is 

also a heavy smoker, and he complained of 

having a cough, congestion, sinus 

problems; and he also expressed concern 

for his future health. The duration of 

his symptoms is approximately two months. 

This Court awards him his medical 

expenses. The total amount was not clear 

to the Court. He had visits with Dr. 

Springer twice and also a St. Pat's 

visit, but I will award upon proof of the 

total amount whatever the amount he's 

entitled to, the medical expenses; and 

I'm just not certain of what that total 
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amount this. I will award to him general 

damages for his pain and suffering in the 

amount of $15,000; his concern for the 

future fear of his health, I will award 

$2,500 for that; and loss of enjoyment of 

life, 2,500, for a total recovery of 

$20,000 plus any specials as it relates 

to medical expenses. 

The next plaintiff that this Court 

heard from was Mr. Albert Andrepont; and 

Mr. Andrepont also lives on the water. 

He reported that he could see a film on 

the water, and there was a smell during 

the cleanup time. At some point in time 

he did leave his house to attend a 

basketball camp and get away. He 

reported that when he still returned, he 

could still smell the smell coming from 

the water. 

He complained of headaches; and he 

suffers from headaches already, but he 

said this was a different kind of 

headache. He also has a very legitimate 

fear in the opinion of this Court, 

because he at the time suffered from 

hepatitis C. He now has sclerosis. 

The duration of his symptoms was 

approximately six months. This Court 

awards him his medicals, which I do not 

have the specific amount, but he is 

entitled to all of his medical expenses 

which would be a special damage award; 
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general damages awarded for pain and 

suffering in an amount of $15,000; 

general damages for fear of contracting 

any future diseases, $5,000; general 

damages for loss of enjoyment of life, 

$2,500, for a total recovery of $22,500 

plus medical expenses. 

The next plaintiff that this Court 

heard from was Ms. Carrie Ann Rougeau 

Tezeno. Ms. Tezeno at the time was 

employed at the Lake Charles Country Club 

as a custodian. She reported that she 

worked between 8:00AM and 2:00 PM. 

She indicated that her job was to do 

outside cleaning; and she recalls one of 

the days being at work and smelling a 

foul -- sometime in June of 2006 -­

smelling a foul odor, and she described 

it too as a rotten egg kind of smell. 

Later on she did have an ER visit. 

She complained of suffering from 

headaches, nausea, for the duration, this 

Court finds, was approximately two 

months; and she continues to worry about 

her future health. 

This Court awards general damages for 

pain and suffering in the amount of 

$10,000; general damages for fear of 

contracting a future disease, $5,000; 

loss of enjoyment of life, $2,500, for a 

total general recovery of $17,500 plus 

her medical expenses. 
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The next plaintiff that this Court 

heard from was Mr. William Breaux. Mr. 

Breaux says that his house is 130 feet, 

the frontal facing the waterfront. He 

bought the lot in 1996. 

He said that he had heard on the news 

that the oil was contained in the ship 

channel, but he knew that to be 

incorrect. He also photographed the oil 

at the fronting of his property. 

And he also indicated during his 

testimony that he contacted a friend that 

he has that works for the Department of 

Environmental Quality. He said the smell 

was terrible. He described it as some 

chemicals that I'm not familiar with, but 

he did say that it was a very strong oil 

odor, and whatever chemical that he was 

pronouncing that I wasn't quite sure what 

he said, would burn your nose hair, is 

the way that he described it. 

His memory seemed to be pretty vivid 

and pretty clear. He also testified that 

he sent his family away and he developed 

symptoms that are consistent with the 

MSDS about the effects of the exposure. 

The duration of his symptoms is 

approximately six weeks. He did have 

some testing from his doctor, Dr. 

Rougeau. And when I was watching Dr. 

Springer's deposition, there was much 

made about the fact that his colonoscopy 
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was normal and the testing did not show a 

reason for some of the symptoms that he 

was having, which in this Court's opinion 

is consistent with what the experts have 

said that if you can eliminate all other 

causes, then the only thing that you are 

left with is that the person was exposed 

to a chemical and that's the reason that 

they're having symptoms that they're 

having. 

This Court awards Mr. Breaux his 

medical expenses and general damages are 

awarded as follows: for his pain and 

suffering he's awarded $12,000; for 

general damages of the fear of just 

having this oil outside of your home, 

$1,500; general damages of loss of 

enjoyment during the time of suffering 

with these symptoms, $5,000, for a total 

award to Mr. Breaux of $18,500 plus his 

medical expenses. 

The next plaintiff that this Court 

heard from was Mr. John Nash. Mr. Nash 

was on a medical leave from his employer, 

and he actually had worked, and at this 

point based on his testimony, continues 

to work in the chemical industry. 

He was advised, according to Mr. 

Nash, by his psychiatrist to do things 

that would relax him to help with his 

pre-existing condition of anxiety as well 

as some other psychiatric disorders that 
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he was suffering from at the time that 

had him on the stress leave; and so one 

of the things that he did for relaxation 

was to fish. 

On the day of the spill Mr. Nash was 

launched near the 210 bridge. According 

to his testimony he was in the ship 

channel using his brother's boat and 

fishing. He was questioned about the bad 

weather that happened that day and he 

said that one of his favorite times to 

fish is in bad weather. 

This Court found Mr. Nash 

exceptionally credible and informative. 

Mr. Nash said that he did smell 

something, but did not think anything of 

it when he initially smelled it. It was 

after 45 minutes of fishing that the odor 

became unbearable. 

This Court would just note that 

someone with Mr. Nash's experience, the 

Court would expect them to be accustomed 

to the smells that one would inhale ln a 

plant environment, but also to rely on 

warnings and be sophisticated in the fact 

that even if it is an uncomfortable 

smell, if there has not been a warning 

from the responsible corporation there 

would be no need to discontinue fishing 

because he would think that it would not 

be harmful to him because he would trust 

the company to do the right thing. 
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Since that did not happen it is the 

finding of this Court that Mr. Nash was 

definitely exposed, and I find that the 

duration of his symptoms was seven 

months, and he suffered from diarrhea and 

headaches; and also this would have 

caused an aggravation of his irritable 

bowel syndrome as well as the anxiety and 

psychiatric conditions that he previously 

suffered from. 

This Court awards to Mr. Nash all of 

his medical expenses that were the visits 

that he testified that he attended during 

this trial. I don't have the specific 

amount, but he is entitled to recover 

that amount. I also award to Mr. Nash 

general damages for his pain and 

suffering in the amount of $21,000; 

general damages for his fear that would 

just be aggravated by being exposed when 

you already suffer from anxiety, and that 

is $2,500; and general damages for his 

loss of enjoyment of life while he 

suffered with these symptoms of $5,000, 

for a total general damage recovery to 

Mr. John Nash of $28,500 plus his medical 

expenses. 

The next plaintiff that this Court 

heard from was Mr. Randy Thomas. Every 

trial should have some comic relief, and 

Mr. Thomas served to provide that, but 

unfortunately this Court did not receive 
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information from Mr. Thomas that the 

Court could find reliable, because I'm 

not exactly even sure where Mr. Thomas 

was on the day that he claims to have 

been exposed. 

Also, I have no supporting expert 

testimony to substantiate that Mr. Thomas 

was exposed or that he had verifiable 

symptoms. So as it relates to Mr. Randy 

Thomas, there will be no recovery. 

The next plaintiff that this Court 

heard from was Ms. Clara Espree. Ms. 

Espree has retired from the Port of Lake 

Charles. On the day that Ms. Espree was 

exposed, Ms. Espree was delivering mail 

to the BT number one, which stands for 

boat terminal number one. 

She said that as she sat in the truck 

she could smell a distinct odor coming 

through the vents of the truck. A train 

had her stopped, and she said she 

couldn't move. The air was on and she 

smelled a real foul odor. She said that 

her eyes began to water and she suffered 

a headache. 

She also had an aggravation of 

symptoms. It is in her medical records 

that she suffers from nosebleeds and she 

also, according to her testimony and her 

medical records, had an aggravation of 

that. She also had some problems with 

sinuses and some G.I. problems as well. 
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The duration of her symptoms is 

approximately two months. 

This Court will award to Ms. Espree 

her medical expenses associated with 

treatment for her exposure; also general 

damages for pain and suffering in the 

amount of $10,000; the fear of future 

diseases in which she expressed because 

she suffers from nosebleeds and having 

been exposed to chemicals it causes her 

to worry, this Court awards her $2,500; 

and for her loss of enjoyment of life 

while she suffered with the symptoms, 

$2,500, for a total recovery in general 

damages to Ms. Espree of 15,000 plus her 

medical expenses. 

The next plaintiff that this Court 

heard from was Mr. Charles Jones. Mr. 

Jones was working at the time of his 

exposure. He described himself as 

working the night shift, and he said that 

apparently he would go on at 4:00 because 

he said he would arrival at work between 

3:30 and 3:45, and that dinner would be 

around 7:00 PM, we would eat. 

"I remember smelling a gross odor, 

and he also says that he remembers joking 

with his fellow employees that we may 

need our HOS gear; and he said that he 

only meant it as a joke. He did not 

realize that he was actually being 

exposed to hydrogen sulfide at the time 
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that he made the joke. 

He complains of having developed 

headaches. He also described himself, 

and he emphasized this more than one time 

in his testimony, as a very healthy 

person. 

According to his medical records he 

was diagnosed with bronchitis on June 30, 

2006. He also says that he has never 

been a smoker. 

This Court does find that he was 

exposed to the air release, and would 

award him medicals. I don't have the 

specific amount, but he is entitled to 

his medicals for any medicals associated 

with this exposure. 

I will award him general damages -­

and I'm sorry -- the duration according 

to Mr. Jones is still ongoing of his 

symptoms. This Court will award him 

general damages for his pain and 

suffering in the amount of 35,000; and 

will award him general damages for his 

fear of contracting future disease of 

2,500; general damages for his loss of 

enjoyment of life while suffering with 

these symptoms, 5,000, for a total 

recovery of $42,500 plus his medical 

expenses. 

The next plaintiff that this Court 

heard from was Ms. Wanda Anderson. Ms. 

Anderson was a postal employee who did 
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car detailing on her days off. She too 

describes her symptoms as ongoing. This 

Court found Ms. Anderson to be a credible 

person. 

She says that she was meeting clients 

at Pink Pig on Highway 27 in Sulphur. 

She is not sure exactly where she 

followed them to to actually wash and 

detail their cars. 

Much was made about the weather on 

the day of the release and that it was a 

rainy day. This Court takes notice of 

the fact that having lived in Louisiana 

all of my life, I know that one place can 

have a lot of rain and another area of 

this parish can have an overcast. I 

believe the testimony of Ms. Anderson. I 

watched her testify. I watched her 

manner as she testified; and I found her 

to be a very credible person. 

I think that she was out there 

detailing cars and that she did smell an 

odor. There was no warning to the public 

so that she would know to seek shelter, 

so she was especially vulnerable to an 

air release. And because she's not a 

sophisticated person in smells of 

chemicals, she thought that this was just 

a, as she put it, normal plant smell; but 

she does remember a distinct odor. 

So I find that the symptoms that she 

has are directly related to the air 
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release from Citgo and I would award her 

her medicals, which I don't have the 

specific amount, but all of the medicals 

that she testified to that this Court 

finds relates to the exposure and she is 

entitled to be compensated for the 

expense of those medicals. 

For general damages for pain and 

suffering, this Court would award to her 

$20,000; for general damages for fear of 

contracting future disease, this Court 

awards $2,500; and for loss of enjoyment 

of life because of the fatigue that she 

did suffer, this Court awards $2,500, for 

a total recovery of $25,000 in general 

damages plus medical expenses. 

The next plaintiff that this Court 

heard from was Mr. Mallory Charles; and 

Mr. Charles was employed with Olmsted 

Company in June of 2006. He worked as a 

helper in the machine shop. 

Mr. Charles complains of after having 

smelled an odor of having headaches, G.I. 

problems, congestion, and also concerns 

for his future health. 

This Court finds that Mr. Charles' 

exposure, the duration, would have been 

approximately one month. It is a result 

of the air release from Citgo, and would 

award him the medicals that are 

associated with his exposure as well as 

general damages for pain and suffering in 
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the amount of $10,000; general damages 

for his fear of contracting some kind of 

future disease, $2,500; and loss of 

enjoyment of his life during the time of 

his suffering with these symptoms, 

$2,500, for a total recovery of $15,000 

plus his medical expenses. 

The next plaintiff that this Court 

heard from was Ms. Shada LeBlanc, and she 

testified that she had gone shrimping 

with her dad and also her mother who I 

heard from at a later time. I'm going to 

cover them both at the same time because 

I have them listed as the LeBlanc family. 

Shada said that they drove in from 

Cameron, and as her mother pointed out, 

even though her sense of direction was 

not the best, they would have had to pass 

the plant area to get to the furthest 

point away that they were on the map, to 

do their shrimping and selling; and they 

were in a lot of different locations in 

that area on that particular day. 

Shada remembers a strong odor in the 

air; and she also complained of having 

some stomach issues, headaches, and SlnUS 

problems. The duration for her was two 

months. 

I found her mother to be, even though 

her sense of direction was not the best, 

I found her to be a very credible witness 

and watched her manner while testifying 
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and just found her to be a very truthful 

lady. 

She confirmed what her daughter said 

that the family was helping Mrs. 

LeBlanc's husband with his business of 

shrimping. And she expressed some 

concerns, which are real and true to her, 

of her future health given her current 

state of kidney failure and the kidney 

disease that she suffers from. 

She did acknowledge that no doctor 

has ever told her that the condition that 

she now suffers from is related to the 

spill, that she has fear of being -- I'm 

sorry, from the air release -- she has 

fear of the exposure and what those 

chemicals interacting on her body could 

do to her. 

As it relates to her daughter, Shada, 

I'm finding that the symptoms that she 

complained of are a result of her 

exposure to the Citgo air release and 

would award Ms. Shada LeBlanc her medical 

expenses that she testified to; and also 

general damages for her pain and 

suffering in the amount of $10,000; no 

damages for any fear because she did not 

express any; also for her loss of 

enjoyment of life during the period of 

the two months that she was suffering 

with the symptoms, $2,500, for a total 

recovery of $12,500 plus her medical 
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expenses. 

For the mother, Ms. Wanda Leblanc, I 

also find that the medical expenses that 

she testified to are associated with her 

exposure to the air release from Citgo, 

and would award her that amount plus 

general damages for her pain and 

suffering in the amount of $25,000; and 

general damages for her fear of future 

disease in the amount of $5,000; general 

damage for the loss of her enjoyment of 

life, $2,500, for a total recovery for 

Ms. Wanda LeBlanc in the amount of 

$32,500 plus her medical expenses. 

The next plaintiff that this Court 

heard from was Ms. Emma Bradford. She 

was also a very credible and kind elderly 

lady who came into Court and explained to 

me that she was crabbing near the 

Ellender bridge with her sister and she 

remembers a smell, and she remembers them 

continuing to crab. And she also 

described going home and cleaning the 

crabs and still the crabs having the odor 

and cooking them and eating them, which 

this Court thought was odd for me, but 

obviously plausible for her; and I 

actually believe that she did it. 

She also complained of having 

nosebleeds, eye irritation, and 

headaches. She did not totally consume 

the crabs, too. I just want to note that 
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for the record, but she did attempt to 

eat them. 

And she also expressed a fear. For 

her, she thinks that this may have 

contributed to the death of her sister. 

This Court finds that there is no 

evidence of that. Her sister was pretty 

elderly, but it's a legitimate fear for 

her. 

This Court also finds that the 

duration of her symptoms is approximately 

three to six months. I will award for 

Ms. Bradford her medicals associated with 

her exposure, as well as general damages 

for her pain and suffering in the amount 

of $15,000i general damages for her fear 

of contracting a future disease or this 

harming her in some way in the future, 

$2,500i and general damages for her loss 

of enjoyment of life while suffering with 

the symptoms, $2,500, for a total 

recovery of $20,000 plus her medical 

expenses. 

The next plaintiff this Court heard 

from was Ms. Hilda Johnson. Ms. Johnson 

is an 81-year-old widow, who at that time 

period of 2006 enjoyed playing the slots 

and golng to the casino. 

She says that there was a day when -­

she recalls a day of being at L'auberge 

Casino and when she got ready to leave 

going to valet parking and while waiting 
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on her vehicle, she smelled what she 

described as an odor of ammonia. 

When probed about the odor she 

remembers that it's an odor and the label 

that she puts on it is ammonia. This 

Court feels that Ms. Johnson because of 

her age and lack of sophistication may be 

describing the odor that way, but I do 

think that she was exposed; and I think 

that she was exposed to the slop oil, 

because her symptoms are consistent with 

the MSDS. 

She describes coughing, difficulty 

breathing, and that she tried to self 

medicate by giving herself home breathing 

treatments, which were not sufficient and 

caused her to have to seek medical 

treatment. 

I believe the duration of her 

suffering with the symptoms that are a 

result of her exposure are about one-and-

a-half to two months. I am going to 

award to Ms. Johnson the medical expenses 

as it relates to her exposure; general 

damages for her pain and suffering in the 

amount of $10,000; general damages for 

the emotional distress of the fear of 

being exposed, $1,500; and general 

damages for loss of enjoyment, $1,500, 

for a total recovery for Ms. Hilda 

Johnson in general damages of 13,000 plus 

her medical expenses. 
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The next witness that this Court 

heard from-- plaintiff I'm sorry -- was 

Mr. Ellvin Love, and even though his 

family did not testify in order with him 

I've grouped them together as the Love 

family. 

I found Mr. Love to be credible, but 

his memory to be faulty. I found his 

wife to have the best memory of the two 

of them, and I do find that Mrs. Love and 

Darion were at her son's house on Ravia 

Road initially, and that her husband came 

as she testified to sometime later after 

getting off from work to join the family. 

I do find the Love family to be 

credible people and I do believe that 

they were exposed on the day that they 

were at their older son's house on Ravia 

Road. 

As it relates to Mr. Ellvin Love, the 

duration of his symptoms is, well 

everybody's symptoms in this Court's 

opinion, is approximately three months, 

because they had a subsequent exposure to 

Georgia Gulf. 

As it relates to Mr. Ellvin Love, he 

did complain of coughing and wheezing and 

some hoarseness. This Court awards to 

him his medicals associated with the 

exposure as it relates to Citgo; general 

damages for his pain and suffering in the 

amount of $10,000. He did not express a 

DARLENE B. FONTENOT 
14™ JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT, OFFICIAL REPORTER 

Lake Charles, LA 70601 
(337) 721-3100 

30 
64



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

32 

credible fear, so there will be no 

recovery for that. General damages for 

loss of enjoyment while he was suffering 

with these symptoms, 2,000, for a total 

recovery to Mr. Ellvin Love of $12,000 

plus his medical expenses. 

For Ms. Linda I find the same 

duration given the subsequent exposure 

from Georgia Gulf, so it would be a 

three-month duration. She will be 

awarded her medical expenses associated 

with the Citgo exposurei general damages 

for her pain and suffering in the amount 

of $15,000i general damages for her fear 

of contracting a future disease, $1,500i 

and general damages for loss of enjoyment 

of her life during the period of 

suffering with these symptoms, $1,500, 

for a total recovery for Mrs. Linda Love 

of $18,000 plus her medical expenses. 

For Dorian Love I also find the same 

period of exposure and would award him 

his medicals associated with the Citgo 

exposurei general damages for pain and 

suffering in the amount of $12,000i 

general damages for fear, there will be 

no recovery for thati and general damages 

for loss of enjoyment, $1,500, for a 

total recovery for their minor son at the 

time, Dorian Love, $13,500 plus his 

medical expenses. 

The next witness that this Court 
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heard from was Ms. Angelina Richard; and 

she and her family have been described as 

the beach people. I will describe them 

as the Partner-Richard family. I found 

this family to be a credible family. 

This Court was impressed with the 

testimony of Angelina Richard, and I 

wholeheartedly believe her. I also found 

Mr. Partner to be a very matter-of-fact 

and very credible man as well as Ms. 

Richard. 

Lawrence on the other hand, this 

Court did not find to be very credible. 

I think that he was just simply trying to 

please whomever asked him questions, and 

I didn't find his testimony to be very 

reliable. 

I do believe that the family was at 

the beach and I do believe that the oil 

made it to the beach at the time that the 

family was there. I believe Angelina, 

her mother, and her father when they say 

that they saw the rainbows in the water; 

and I believe Ms. Bridgett Richard when 

she says that she had all the children, 

including Lawrence, get out of the water 

because of her fear of what could 

possibly be 1n the water. 

I think these are the unsuspecting 

people that the whole reason a 

corporation should warn people is so that 

we don't end up with unsuspecting people 

DARLENE B. FONTENOT 
14TH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT, OFFICIAL REPORTER 

Lake Charles, LA 70601 
(337) 721-3100 

32 
66



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

32 

getting into the water just to have a fun 

day at the beach. 

I find the records, the pediatric 

records for Ms. Richard's son to be 

supportive of her contention that the day 

that she was at the beach was June 20th 

and the day that she took her child was 

the next day. 

Even when probed, when she made 

concessions those weren't, this Court's 

assessment of her body language, they 

were an, if you say so kind of 

concession, but not a, I don't believe 

that I took him the next day. I believe 

that she took him the next day and that 

they were there exactly the day that they 

say that they were. 

I found her to be someone who would 

be a loving and caring mother and would 

have been concerned as to whether or not 

what she saw in her child was caused by 

the water at the beach or some other 

factor and not someone who would have 

delayed taking him to the doctor. 

The symptoms that are complained of 

by Angelina Richard, Bridgett Richard, 

Darrell Partner, and even when Bridgett 

complained on behalf of her minor son, 

Lawrence, are consistent with what the 

MSDS says someone would experience if 

they were exposed to slop oil. 

I find that the Richard family along 
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with Ms. Leola Tanner, who was with them, 

were exposed and they were present at the 

beach. 

As it relates to Angelina Richard, 

this Court believes the duration of her 

symptoms were approximately four months. 

This Court will award to her the medicals 

associated with this exposure, as well as 

general damages for pain and suffering in 

the amount of $14,000. Ms. Angelina 

Richard did not express a fear, and I 

will not award anything to her for fear 

of con~racting any future disease; for 

loss of enjoyment of life while she 

suffered with these symptoms I will award 

$2,000, for a total recovery to Angela 

Richard, $16,000 plus her medical 

expenses. 

Her mother, Ms. Bridgett Richard, 

will be awarded her medical expenses. I 

find the duration of her suffering with 

these symptoms is approximately two 

months. General damages will be awarded 

to her for pain and suffering in the 

amount of $10,000. She, too, she did not 

express a fear of contracting a future 

disease, just a fear of having been in 

polluted water. 

This Court will not award a recovery 

for that, but will award her $1,000 for 

loss of enjoyment of life, for a total 

recovery of $11,000 plus her medical 
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expenses. 

Mr. Darrell Partner, the father in 

this circumstance, this Court finds his 

suffering to be duration between three 

and six months, and will award him his 

medicals that are associated with his 

exposure, plus general damages for pain 

and suffering in the amount of $17,500; 

no award for fear; and will award $2,000 

for loss of enjoyment of life while 

suffering with the symptoms for a total 

general recovery for Mr. Partner of 

$19,500 plus his medical expenses. 

Based on the report from Ms. Bridgett 

Richard of Lawrence's symptoms, I do find 

that he did have exposure and he was 

actually in the water based on his 

mother's testimony. I will award him the 

medicals as it relates to his exposure; 

general damages for his pain and 

suffering in the amount of $7,000; 

nothing for fear; and $1,000 for loss of 

enjoyment of life, for a total of 

recovery for Lawrence Richard of $8,000 

plus medical expenses. 

This Court did review the deposition 

of Ms. Leola Tanner, who also with the 

recent Richard family, and finds that her 

duration of suffering would have been 

approximately two months, and I do find 

that her systems are related to her 

exposure and will award medicals 
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associated with her exposurei and general 

damages for pain and suffering in the 

amount of $10,000i no damages for fear of 

future diseasei and also will award 

$1,000 for loss of enjoyment of life, for 

a total recovery for general damages of 

$11,000 plus her medical expenses. 

The next witness that this Court 

heard from was Mr. Kenneth Pappion. At 

the time of June of 2006 Mr. Pappion was 

an employee with Southern Ionics working 

as a chemical operator. He described 

himself as working 12-hour shifts, seven 

to seven shift where he would arrive at 

6:30 and would get off at 7:00 PM. 

He recalls a distinct kerosene gas­

like smell on a particular day at work. 

He doesn't know where the smell was 

coming from, and that he worked 

approximately one half mile from the 

waterway. 

He also reports that he suffered from 

diarrhea and headaches, nausea, and sinus 

problems, and attributes the problems 

that he is suffering with erectile 

dysfunction to his exposure. 

He did admit that no doctor has ever 

told him that suffering from erectile 

dysfunction is caused by the exposure, 

but says that he has no family history. 

He's checked with his male relatives. He 

had no problems before, and also 
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testified of how this has deeply impacted 

both him and his wife. 

This Court finds that the symptoms 

relayed by Mr. Pappion are a result of 

his exposure in his work environment and 

will award to Mr. Pappion his medical 

expenses that are associated with his 

exposure; also general damages for his 

pain and suffering in the amount of 

$25,000; general damages for his fear of 

contracting future disease, $5,000; and 

general damages for the loss of enjoyment 

of life, $5,000, for a total recovery to 

Mr. Kenneth Pappion of $30,000 plus his 

medical expenses. 

The next witness that this Court 

heard from was Ms. Ann Welch and I have 

grouped her, her husband, and her sons 

together as the Welch family. 

Ms. Ann Welch lives near the 

refinery. She remembers the day as being 

a rainy day, and she remembers being out 

in the yard with her kids who were not in 

school; and both parents testified that 

there were things that were left in the 

yard that they were gathering and picking 

up. 

Ann Welch works as a registered nurse 

and she does recall an odd odor. Her 

husband worked at W.R. Grace and did 

testify that when he left work he did 

remember there being an odd smell, but 
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once again he would have been an 

unsuspecting plaintiff because there were 

no warning signs that the odor that they 

were smelling was a dangerous odor. 

Mr. Welch specifically said that he 

was checking to try and find out if there 

was a shelter in place because of the 

odor. All of the Welch's testified that 

their symptoms dissipated quickly, with 

all of them saying that their symptoms 

for the entire family lasted about a 

week. 

I found Mr. Welch's testimony to be 

not only extremely credible but just that 

he possesses a lot of insight. And one 

of the things that Mr. Welch said is, I 

choose to work in a chemical plant 

environment so I choose to assume those 

risks, but when this infringes on my 

family it is upsetting and it is fearful 

because they don't make the same choice. 

And he's actually correct. None of 

us make that choice if you don't work in 

the environment, and that's why we rely 

on corporations to be responsible to let 

us know when we should shelter in place. 

As it relates to Ms. Welch the 

symptoms that she described, which were 

diarrhea and some nausea, according to 

her resolved themselves in about a week. 

This Court finds that the symptoms 

that she testified to in Court were 
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caused by her exposure from the Citgo alr 

release and would award her the medical 

damages for her treatment as it related 

to her exposure; and general damages for 

her pain and suffering in the amount of 

$7,500; general damages for her fear of 

contracting -- herself or her family 

contracting some kind of future disease 

from being exposed, $2,500; and general 

damages for loss of enjoyment, $2,500, 

for a total recovery for Ms. Ann Welch, 

$12,500 plus her medicals. 

For Mr. Daniel Welch, this Court will 

award him his medical expenses; and 

general damages for his pain and 

suffering also in the amount of $7,500; 

general damages for his fear of 

contracting future disease, $2,500; and 

general damages for his loss of enjoyment 

of life, $2,500, for a total recovery of 

$12,500 in general damages plus expenses. 

For the minor sons: for Owen, this 

Court would award medical expenses and 

general damages for pain and suffering ln 

the amount of $7,500; and for loss of 

enjoyment of life $2,500, for a total 

recovery for Owen Welch of $10,000 plus 

medical expenses. 

For Wesley Welch, this Court would 

also award medical expenses and general 

damages for $7,500; for pain and 

suffering and general damages for loss of 
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enjoyment of life, $2,500, for a total 

recovery for their minor son, Wesley 

Welch, $10,000 plus medical expenses. 

Finally, Adrian Watkins appeared by 

deposition. He was unavailable for 

Court, and Mr. Adrian Watkins was at the 

Winner's Choice Casino and smelled an 

odor and complained of symptoms of 

nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea, with the 

duration approximately three weeks. 

This Court makes a finding that those 

symptoms were caused by the Citgo air 

release and would award his medicals and 

genera~ damages for his pain and 

suffering in the amount of $7,500; and 

general damages for loss of enjoyment of 

life i~ the amount of $2,500, for a total 

award to Mr. Adrian Watkins of $10,000 

plus medical expenses. 

Those are all of the plaintiffs who 

appear before this Court during this 

trial. Costs will be assessed to the 

defendant, Citgo, and I will sign a 

judgment. Mr. Wilson, you will prepare 

it? 

MR. WILSON: 

Yes, I will, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: 

I'll sign the judgment upon 

presentation. Court is adjourned. 

MR. WILSON: 

Thank you, Your Honor. 
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MR. ISENBERG: 

Thank you. 

MR. LANDRY: 

Thank you. 

(MATTER CONCLUDED) 
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true and correct transcription of my voicewriting 

notes and recording of the proceedings taken ln 

the above numbered and entitled cause at the time 

and place set forth on page one hereof. 

Lake Charles, Louisiana, July 11, 2016 . 

Darlene B. Fontenot, CCR 

Certified Court Reporter 

Certificate No. 23007 
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